¥

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WA State ESD, Respondent v.

Shaw Rahman, [Petitioner or Appellant]

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Name, address, telephone number and Washington State Bar Association attorney number SHAW RAHMAN 4739 UNIVERSITY WAY NE #1422 SEATTLE, WA 98105 EMAIL ADDRESS: MAIL TOS HAWRAHMAN STATE Ogmail.com. PRO,SE, PLAINTIEF

2015 AUG

N

AM 10:

INTRODUCTION:

The plaintiff, a US citizen, Bangladesh origin, Colored Monitory, Asian follower of Islam as principles (creed), not a Canadian Citizen (no limited Constitutional rights exist) asserts and relies the reasoning based on case laws below, for page 1-11 of this pleadings holding on "substantial evidence, which is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair minded person of the truth of declared premise". Ridgewater Props v. Starbuck 1982&Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist V Dickie, 149 Wn 2d. 873,879,73 P.3d 369 (2003) (Substantial evidence is "defined as a quantum of evidence sufficient to persuade a rational fairminded person the premise is true.).Purpose of anti-discriminatory employment laws are to reinstate discriminated victim to original status. Plaintiff intends to appeal this case to, US Supreme Court (denying jurisdiction for foreseeable injustice and inefficiency on federal and constitutional question) and files for reconsideration at this court, for resolution "fairly" and "Justly" to provide justice. For the questions raised in the order of Div-1's initial review, for discretion. Pro Se Plaintiff's holds on to his constitutional rights for due process for justice, under 14th amendment.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Case was denied review on July 27,2015. Reconsideration motion was denied, Aug 7, 2015. See Opening Brief for Court of Appeal Case 723961.

STATEMENT, CITATION OF COURT OF APPEAL

Un employment benefit denial by the WA State ESD and WA King County Superior Court, & Review denial by Court of Appeal Div -1, was Unlawful and un-constitutional, that deprived Plaintiff from Human rights and Employment benefits unlawfully. Plaintiff holds on to RAP 13.1(b)((3). & 13.4(c)(7)

JURISDICTION

- (1) Plaintiff, to pursue justice, will appeal "final judgment" (for errors of any" federal character") from WA /Superior Court/Supreme court to US Supreme Court on federal and constitutional question, "rendered by the highest court of a state" in which "a decision on some federal questions "could be had" holding on 28 USC section1257(a), & "Rooker-Feldman Doctrine" and to "correct wrongs" of "constitutional dimension" to "enforce the commands of the United States Constitution" (Including supremacy clause, under Section25 of the 1789 Act & 28 USC section1257(a),)
- (2) Plaintiff holds that such appeal "is within its province inquire whether a federal rights was denied by a state court "in substance and effect, as by putting forward nonfederal grounds of decision that were without any fair or substantial support" and that this inquiry <u>"cannot be disregarded without</u>

neglecting or renouncing a jurisdiction conferred by law and designed to protect and maintain the supremacy of the constitution and the laws made in pursuance thereof" holding Ward v Love Cnty, 253 U.S 17,22-23 (1920). Plaintiff holds on to Florida v Rodriguez, 469 U.S 1,7 (1984) for supervisory authority of this highest WA Court of federal questions that pertains to defendants' violation of plaintiff constitutional right.

- a. "it is incumbent upon this court when it is urged that the decision of the state court rests upon a non federal ground, to ascertain for itself, in order that constitutional guaranties may appropriately be enforced, whether the asserted nonfederal ground independently and adequately supports the judgement" holding on Abie State Bank v Bryan, 282 U.s 765,773 (1993), for reinstating all claims against defendants to recover damage.
- b. Plaintiff holds that, "Fair Reading" of the "WA state statue" is violated by judges' order holding that Bouie v City Of Columbia, 378 U.S
 347(1964) applies for WA Supremer/US Supreme Courts oversight on question of fair reading". Plaintiff holds that a review is essential because of a "doubtful determination" by the trial court of defendants holding that Williams v. Lee ,358 U.S ,217,218 (1959) , for determination of claims damages both punitive and actual for violating due process holding on to State Firm Mut Auto. Ins co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408(2003) . Rather it "clearly appears that the decree (order)was the result of an improvident "exercise" of judicial discretion" depriving Plaintiff of due process. Therefore trial courts[court of claims] order of not allowing further

administrative remedies must be denied and reversed under Greene v. United States, 376,U.S 149, 153, n.5(1964). ;Cheney v. United States Dist. Court For D.C. (03-475) 542 U.S. 367 (2004) 334 F.3d 1096.)

- (3) The pleading includes citation of WA state law, violated by the defendants, contrary to Wright v Georgia, 373 U.S. 284 ,291(1963). Enough admissible evidence exists to support each claims, to raise any question of sufficiency of evidence contrary to Barr v City of Columbia ,378 U.S 146,149(1964).
- (4) De novo review intentionally overlooked by judge, holding that the importance of the case is "beyond academic or episodic" holding Rice v. Sioux City Mem'l Park Cemetery, 349 U.S 70,74(1995) on a questions of federal & constitutional right (14th amendment, title VII) violation, a issue of the court deems of interest and importance not only to immediate parties to the case and is therefore worthy of further consideration. Gordon v New York Stock Exch., Inc ,422 U.S 659,663 (1973)because of the vital importance of the question of rights , WA state law and constitutional and the urging of the plaintiff.
- (5) Important and unsettled issues exist to prove that a conflict of decision exists to warrant further consideration holding on J.D.B v North Carolina, 131 S.Ct, 2394,2401(2011) holding that "due process" has been violated" on denial holding on BMW of North America ,Inc v. Gore, 517, U.S 559, 568(1996) "to illuminate the character of the standard " holding Sanenz v Roe, 526 U.S 489, 498(1996).
- (6) Plaintiff holds on to Timken-Detroit Axle Co., 329 U.S 129 (1946) that trial

court "refused with tactic, "to decide the constitution validity of a federal statue (due process 14th amendment, recusal, case law for de novo review, because of the presence of non-constitutional(along with WA state law) issues that might alone have served as an adequate ground for disposition of the case" fairly.

Plaintiff holds on to Wilkerson v McCarthy, 336 U.S 53, 55 (1949) that "a decision not to correct, it was to let the administration of this law be governed not by the aim of the legitimation to safeguard <u>employees but by a hostile philosophy that permeated its interpretation</u>" (336, U.S at 69). Plaintiff holds that trial court violated in procedure and philosophy of justice under Wilkerson v McCarthy. A clear departure, from the acceptable course of judicial predesigns" to exercise de novo review.

(7) Plaintiff's appeal is appropriate to WA supreme court (and it is supervising court "[The Supreme Court stated that]) the only matters of sufficient importance to merit this appeal, because the claims arises question on "those originating in the Constitution or statutes". 511 U.S. at 879; in a controlling question of law both WA state, federal and constitutional, to prevent grave miscarriage of justice holding on City of Memphis v Greene, 451, US ,100, 102,(1981) because the record doesn't support that holding is lawful, for fact bound claims supported with evidence –direct and circumstantial, simultaneously holds onto Montana v Kennedy,366 U.S 308,309(1961) "in view of the apparent harshness of the result entailed".
(8) Plaintiff holds that Graver Tan & Mfg .Co v Linde Air Prods. Co. 336 U.S

271,275,(1949) applies for obvious procedural violation of due process-Therefore the intervention of the highest Court of WA is appropriate, "in what ought to be the rare instances where the <u>standard appears to have been</u> <u>misapprehended or grossly misapplied</u>" Mobil Oil Corp v FPC, 417 US 283,310(1974) Universal Camera Corp v. NLRB, 340 US 474,491(1951).

- (9) Plaintiff holds on American Fed'n of Musicians v Carroll, 391 US
 99,10607(1968),to review sufficiency of evidence exists, on the merits of the claims. All claims accompany evidence support of admissible evidence therefore not Unconstitutional under due process.
- Plaintiff had provided evidence from Superior court's clerks office's conversation disclosure that a cover sheet was the cause of return (plaintiff was not excused)of the initially sent appeal to the superior court on the 6th, received on the 7th Jan 2014, because superior Court's Clerk's Office claims it had sent the received appeal to WA address (still unrecoverable) when A postage paid Fedex envelope with instruction to send stamped(received) appeal(evidence earlier pleading with trk#) back to Vancouver, BC, Canada. A deviation or error that cannot be attributed to Plaintiff. <u>Therefore equitable tolling applies appropriately</u>.

(i)State v. Robinson,24 Division One summarized the circumstances under which RCW 10.73.090 should be equitably tolled. It stated:

(ii)Equitable tolling "permits a court to allow an action to proceed when justice requires it, even though a statutory time period has nominally elapsed." State v. Duvall, 86 Wash. App. 871, 874, 940 P.2d 671 (1997), 134 Wash.2d 1012, 954 P.2d 276 (1998).

(iii)"Appropriate circumstances generally include 'bad faith, deception, or false assurances by the defendant, and the exercise of diligence by the plaintiff." Id. at 875, 940 P.2d 671
(quoting Finkelstein v. Sec. Props., Inc., 76 Wash.App. 733, 739-40, 888 P.2d 161 (1995).) (iv) "Courts typically permit equitable tolling to occur only sparingly, and should not extend it to a 'garden variety claim of excusable neglect.' " Id.
(quoting Irwin v. Dep't of Veterans Affairs, 498 U.S. 89, 96, 111 S.Ct. 453, 112 L.Ed.2d 435(1990)).[25]

In the absence of WA State law, federal laws or rules, can be held on and under 9th Cir RAP 3c a cover sheet does not bar an appeal review (Plaintiff's statutory rights for review of appeal exists), for factual claims (fact bound) of appeal, beyond procedural technicality, for Which Court of appeal is established (for factual allegation/claim determination). Plaintiff appealed at superior court first time for ALR2 review. He was not dishonest or maneuvering, for actual compliance holding PERC 16, Santore 28. nor he had failed in order to "exercise of diligence". Plaintiff holds on to violation of the 14th amendment by defendants. Aggrieved Plaintiff asserts "Denial of employment security benefit by WA State ESD (by Judge Nacarato)" and review denial by Judge Spearman, violates RCW 49.60.270 at nucleus of RCW 49.60 & 14th amendment simultaneously (aggrieved by a final order of an administrative law judge may obtain judicial review of such order as provided under the administrative procedure act, chapter 34.05 RCW) Plaintiff asserts the order of denial of review for employment security benefit by ESD & Judge Nacarato is an tortuous act (wrongful) holding on to Median v. Public Utility Dist, which caused his property damage by depriving him to pay mortgage resulting in foreclosure, inability to pay utilities and bare necessities of life.

2. Judge Spearman, had been couriered via Fedex, motion of reconsideration

,after informing the court via email, regarding motion for reconsideration ,after the initial dismissal, evidencing that the appeal was sent to the superior court on the 6th and received on the 7th Jan, 2014 with EMS receipt. The principles of, motion to reconsider, was excused as disfavored. Which may be "applicable in a court of appeal or Supreme Court" (in Appellate review or discouraged, in Supreme Court's order, EXCEPT for procedural discrimination, or bias subjecting amendment), not at the Trial Court (holding that federal laws/rules applies in the absence of WA state law or case law). At trial court a reconsideration cannot be disfavored because it is the integral part of the civil procedure. (see civil rules).

Evidentiary standard in fact finding claims applies e.g D.C CODE section 16-2316(b) (lexisNexis)

Therefore the above procedural mis-use in "trial court " does not bar an appeal review when the "substantial compliance" was proven with evidentiary support, that Plaintiff being unable to pay rent moved or had to <u>evacuate local residence at 16596 NE 84th ct_, Redmond WA, 98052</u>, A Canadian resident , US Citizen , continued appeal prosecution from Canada (holding a 60 day appeal limitation is applies, appropriately, for out of WA resident and doesn't bar a constitutional due process of 14th amendment, of a US citizen(no limited constitutional rights apply).

Therefore all 3 <u>stipulations</u> of the order have been answered with reason & law of civil procedure. Superior court "<u>erred /failed</u> in delivering a

returned appeal, initially received on the 7th, <u>undisputedly</u>" when plaintiff provided returnable postage paid envelope ,of Fedex. This has cause the delay due to, error of NOT properly sending or not sending at all, any appeal received at the superior court, which the Court claims was returned to WA address, still unrecoverable. Therefore a 30 day limitations was dodges or tactically obfuscated, for noncompliance by the court. There could be no reasonable, reason why Plaintiff would not prosecute an appeal "on time", when he had already sent the appeal for review, by the 6th Jan 2014. Therefore the order overlooks the purpose of appeal by Plaintiff. In civil cases , when Plaintiff exercised "actual compliance" [doctrine , PERC 116, Santore, 28] within limitations period Of 30 days as stated above.

The trial court's "error" in properly sending the unfiled appeal back, is a substantial "good cause" for Plaintiff's being unable to resend the appeal not knowing "for what reason" it was not be returned to him, with stamped appeal copy after filing, when plaintiff right after finding (28th Jan, 2014)out the untraceable /missing mail matter, the very next day(29th Jan 2015), <u>couriered cover sheet attached appeal via fedex [see</u> <u>email exhibits,]</u>. Motion of reconsideration first_was emailed but was <u>rejected, then fedex trk#[</u>804-921-396884. Aug 7, 2014; 2:59 PM] bearing the motion for reconsideration was sent to the court. This error of the court cannot be attributed to Plaintiff. Plaintiff does not believe there were any additional deficiencies, stated to him by court Clerk [no citation

was returned even after calling the court], nor he applied any additional change to appeal. Therefore, Clvmer v. Emp't Sec. Dep't,82 Wn. App. 25, 30, 917 P.2d 1091 (1996). is inapplicable and "substantial compliance applies", showing actual intent and compliance.

ARGUMENT & STANDARDS FOR REVIEW, JUDCIAL CONDUCT

No reasonable person standard, substantial evidence standard applies, error of law, abuse of discretion by trial court exists.

- Administrative law Judge Nacarrato, imputed labiality by discriminating Plaintiff in writing untruthful and fraudulent order to deceive and deprive as pleaded earlier, showing judicial error or actual bias, by misinterpreted weekly claiming period pleaded earlier. Plaintiff acted accordingly, with RCW definition of week-ly claim filing period to file properly. Glaldamz V Potter applies. Plaintiff asserts Actual bias 28 USC 455,154. kolstad v. American Dental Association, 119 S.Ct. 2118(1999)[intentional discrimination]. Fair reading has been violated. Goodman v Boeing holds.
- 2. WA State ESD imputed labiality,[Glaldamz V Potter], from the very first denial of unemployment benefit. Goodman v Boeing holds.
- 3. 4ci imputed liability, [Glaldamz V Potter], by fraudulently reporting to WA state ESD, income which Plaintiff never received on weekly stated period or even at all per agreement with the payable time as evidenced and pleaded earlier. Plaintiff asserts fraud claims (intentionally and willingly) by defendants', kolstad v. American Dental Association, 119 S.Ct.

2118(1999)[intentional discrimination], Goodman v Boeing holds.

4. Plaintiff posses all 3 elements of article III standing (see standards). And holds on to Ashcroft v Iqbal asserting fraud by defendants'. Goodman v Boeing holds. In all above 1-4 three is NO "legitimate of nondiscriminatory reason" involves.

BREACH OF CONTRACT

Plaintiff asserts Defendants' breach the contract (WAC 192-150-210(6)(e)), for changing "terms and condition of contract" (in breach), protected under 42 USC, holding English common law, Hadley v Baxendale(<u>consequential</u> <u>damages</u>), as a result of wrongful act and fraud by defendants. for which Fundamental , Repudiatory, Anticipatory breach claim against the employer, for all damages is justified. A contract therefore, exited under Hearst Comme'ns Inc V Seattle Times Co.154 Wn 2d 493,503(2005). Defendants breached the contract elements by harassment with on time payment and mistreatment. Employer's proffered explanation is false, fraudulent EEOC v Boeing holds, Ashcroft v Iqbal on the grounds of antitrust applies appropriately, against defendants' license to evade holding on Towmbly v. Bell Atlantic.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Motion for reconsideration page 15, line 7 for "tort claim" against State Defendants {beyond} RCW 4.16.170, RCW 4.16.170, 60 day Statue of limitation commencement applies. <u>Page 11, line 9</u>; a 60 day out of WA State Appeal prosecution timeframe is appropriate.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

See, Statement Of, Citation Court Of Appeal Decision, Opening & reply brief of Case 723961.

CONCLUSION

As a result, Plaintiff has proven that his claims against the defendants are meritorious, well stated & evidenced within WA state laws, their federal authorities & Constitutional statutory framework that the employment practice has created a disparate treatment towards by their intentional breach of contract, fraud ,untruthfulness, violating WA State law under title VII and its Constitutional authority (as a common law, tort feasor), asserting UN Human Rights Charter Articles have been violated(7,8,10,22,23,25,28,29,30). Plaintiff excised his due diligence under the circumstances to file on time. To the best of his knowledge there is only one case law, where no such due diligence was exercised by petitioner" review was denied, that was field "after 45 days" & this case does not resemble the same case because "court error" and Claims to have sent unrecoverable mail with return appeal or didn't sent at all to stop appeal, when clear instruction and postage paid Fedex return envelope was provided, tracking for which is in court record. No reasonable excuse by court exists for failure to return properly any appeal, that it claims to have returned at all.

Tort action against State -authority, for ESD denial holding on : http://www.ecases.us/case/washctapp/2604289/schmitz-vstate, 60 day

Limitation period applies. RCW 4.92.110. and RCW 4.16.170 applies in service and filing appropriately. WA ESD was served within the limitations of RCW above (WA State is a Serve first State). Plaintiff corrects any day that he may have referenced as 29th Jan 2014, when he erroneously may have stated re-filed appeal, received by superior court, in the motion for re-consideration, filed at Div1 ,court of appeals.

RULE OF LAW, BLACK LETTER, STATUES, CASE LAW, WA STATE LAW

RCW 4.92.110