RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 09, 2015, 1:34 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 92087-7

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHAW RAHMAN,

PETITIONER,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY,

**RESPONDENT.** 

## **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MARYA COLIGNON, WSBA # 42225 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent OID #91020 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 Phone: (206) 464-7676 Fax: (206) 389-2800 E-mail: LALSeaEF@atg.wa.gov



#

## I. INTRODUCTION

Washington's Administrative Procedure Act (APA), chapter 34.05 RCW, requires a petition for judicial review of a final agency order to be filed with the superior court and served on the agency within 30 days after service of the agency's final order. Petitioner Shaw Rahman filed his Petition for Judicial Review of a final decision of the Employment Security Department 17 days late. The superior court dismissed Mr. Rahman's Petition, and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the dismissal. This case does not present a significant question of law under the Washington or U.S. Constitutions under RAP 13.4(b)(3). The dismissal of Mr. Rahman's judicial appeal was due to his own failure to comply with the statutory filing requirements. Further review by this Court is unwarranted.

#### II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

For the reasons set forth below, the issues raised in Mr. Rahman's Petition for Review are not appropriate for this Court's discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). If the Court were to accept review, however, the issue before this Court would be:

Under the APA, a petition for judicial review of a final agency order must be filed with the superior court within 30 days after service of the final order. Did the superior court properly dismiss Mr. Rahman's

appeal when he filed his Petition for Judicial Review 48 days after service of the Department's final order?

## III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 13, 2013, the Employment Security Department's Commissioner<sup>1</sup> issued a final decision concluding that Petitioner Shaw Rahman had fraudulently obtained unemployment benefits and was liable for the resulting overpayment. Certified Administrative Record  $(AR)^2$  at 200-06, 219-20. That same day, the Commissioner's review office mailed a copy of the decision to Mr. Rahman. AR at 219.

The decision advised Mr. Rahman that he had 30 days to appeal the decision to the superior court.<sup>3</sup> AR at 220. The advisement set forth a detailed explanation of the process for filing a judicial appeal:

If you choose to file a judicial appeal, you must both

Timely file your judicial appeal directly with the Superior Court of the county of your residence or Thurston County. If you are not a Washington state resident, you must file your judicial appeal with the Superior Court of Thurston County. See RCW 34 05 514 (The Department does not furnish judicial appeal forms) AND

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Decisions on petitions for Commissioner review are made by review judges in the Commissioner's review office but are treated as decisions of the Commissioner due to statutory delegation. See RCW 50.32.070, .080; WAC 192-04-020(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Certified Administrative Record is separately paginated from the clerk's papers. See Index to Clerk's Papers. Thus, this brief cites to the administrative record as "AR."

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  Mr. Rahman's deadline was January 13, 2014, because January 12, 2014, the thirtieth day, fell on a Sunday. See CR 6(a).

Serve a copy of your judicial appeal by mail or personal service within the 30-day judicial appeal period on the Commissioner of the Employment Security Department, the Office of the Attorney General, and all parties of record.

AR at 220. The Commissioner's decision also informed Mr. Rahman that he had 10 days to file a petition for reconsideration. AR at 220.

Mr. Rahman filed an untimely Petition for Reconsideration of the Commissioner's decision, signing his Petition for Reconsideration on December 30, 2013—17 days after the Commissioner issued a final decision in Mr. Rahman's case. AR at 225. The Commissioner denied Mr. Rahman's Petition for Reconsideration because it was untimely. AR at 225, 302. The order again advised Mr. Rahman that further appeal had to be taken to the superior court within 30 days from December 13, 2013—the date the Commissioner's final decision was issued. AR at 303.

Mr. Rahman did not file his Petition for Judicial Review in King County Superior Court until January 30, 2014—17 days late. CP at 1, 106, 135. He did not serve the Department with a copy of his Petition until March 4, 2014. CP at 132, 134-35.

The Department filed a motion to dismiss Mr. Rahman's appeal because he failed to timely comply with the APA's statutory filing and service requirements. CP at 114-247. The superior court granted the Department's motion because the Petition was untimely filed. CP at 24849. The superior court's order did not address Mr. Rahman's untimely service on the Department. *Id.* 

Mr. Rahman subsequently filed a "Motion to Amend" the dismissal order, arguing for the first time that he had attempted to timely file his Petition for Judicial Review with the superior court but it "was 'rejected for procedure." CP at 250. The superior court denied Mr. Rahman's motion, treating it as a motion for reconsideration. CP at 259.

Mr. Rahman then appealed to the Court of Appeals. CP at 260. In an unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's order of dismissal, concluding that Mr. Rahman's Petition was not filed within the statutory time period and that dismissal is an appropriate response to noncompliance. *Rahman v. Dep't of Emp't Sec.*, No. 72396-1-I, slip op. at 3 (Wash. Ct. App. July 27, 2015) at \*2.<sup>4</sup> Mr. Rahman filed a motion for reconsideration, which the Court of Appeals denied. Mr. Rahman now petitions this Court for review.

<sup>4</sup> A copy of the Court of Appeals' decision is attached to this brief as Appendix

4

Α.

## IV. ARGUMENT

## Dismissal of an Untimely Petition for Judicial Review Does Not Raise a Constitutional Question

This Court should deny Mr. Rahman's Petition for Review because he has not established any of the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Mr. Rahman seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), asserting that there is a significant constitutional question because dismissal of his Petition violated his constitutional and human rights. Pet. for Review at 4-5. He is mistaken.

Mr. Rahman did not raise this issue before the Court of Appeals until he filed a motion for reconsideration of the Court of Appeals' decision. Thus, this should not be a basis for review by this Court. RAP 2.5(a); *Darkenwald v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 183 Wn.2d 237, 245 n.3, 350 P.3d 647 (2015) (declining to consider belatedly raised arguments that were never raised in prior administrative or judicial proceedings). Moreover, Mr. Rahman does not provide any analysis as to how his constitutional rights have been violated by the superior court's application of the strict requirements of the APA. "'[N]aked castings into the constitutional seas are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." *State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d 534, 558, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014) (quoting *State v. Blilie*, 132 Wn.2d 484, 493 n.2, 939 P.2d 691

(1997)). Because this case does not present a significant constitutional question, this Court should deny review.

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the superior court's dismissal of Mr. Rahman's untimely request for judicial review. Judicial review of an agency's action is governed by the APA, chapter 34.05 RCW. In order to timely perfect an appeal of a final agency order under the APA, "[a] petition for judicial review of an order shall be filed with the court and served on the agency, the office of the attorney general, and all parties of record within thirty days after service of the final order." RCW 34.05.542(2). The 30-day appeal period begins to run upon service of the final decision of the agency, which is complete when the agency mails the decision. RCW 34.05.010(19), .542(2); City of Seattle v. Pub. Emp't Relations Comm'n (PERC), 116 Wn.2d 923, 927, 809 P.2d 1377 (1991). Dismissal is appropriate when a party fails to follow the APA's filing requirements. Clymer v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 82 Wn. App. 25, 27, 917 P.2d 1091 (1996) (dismissal appropriate when claimant's attorney filed petition for judicial review one day after the deadline for filing expired).

Mr. Rahman did not comply with the filing requirements of the APA. The Department mailed Mr. Rahman its final decision on December 13, 2013. AR at 219-20. Mr. Rahman filed his Petition for

Judicial Review with the superior court on January 30, 2014—48 days after service of the final order. CP at 1-110, 135; AR at 219-20.

In reaching its decision, the Court of Appeals properly noted that there are no "good cause" exceptions excusing a failure to comply with the APA's strict filing and service requirements. *Rahman*, slip. op. at 2. This Court has held that substantial compliance is not sufficient to comply with the APA's procedural requirements. *Skagit Surveyors & Engineers, LLC v. Friends of Skagit Cnty.*, 135 Wn.2d 542, 555, 958 P.2d 962 (1998) (substantial compliance with the service requirements of the APA is not sufficient).

In addition, the Court of Appeals properly concluded, "even if the doctrine of substantial compliance applies, Rahman's alleged attempt to file his petition on time does not satisfy it." *Rahman*, slip. op. at 3. Mr. Rahman's "excuse that a timely petition was returned because it lacked a cover sheet is not supported by competent evidence" that was considered by the superior court. *Rahman*, slip op. at 3. *After* the superior court denied his motion for reconsideration, Mr. Rahman submitted a "Track a Package Printout," which does not describe the item that was sent or the delivery location. <sup>5</sup> CP at 261; Pet. for Review at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mr. Rahman submitted this printout to the superior court after he filed his Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals. CP at 260-62, 266-68.

The Court of Appeals also correctly determined that Mr. Rahman did not provide his excuse to the superior court until after the dismissal order had been entered. *Rahman*, slip op. at 3; CP at 248-50. "CR 59 does not permit a plaintiff to propose new theories of the case that could have been raised before entry of an adverse decision." *Wilcox v. Lexington Eye Inst.*, 130 Wn. App. 234, 241, 122 P.3d 729 (2005).

Finally, the Court of Appeals noted that Mr. Rahman "does not explain why he should be excused from providing a cover sheet if that was necessary to get his petition filed on time." *Rahman*, slip op. at 3. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the superior court's order of dismissal.

Mr. Rahman also argues the merits of his case and alleges that the Department committed a tort when it denied him unemployment benefits. Pet. for Review at 12-14. The merits of the Commissioner's final decision or any other alleged complaints Mr. Rahman may have against the Department are not properly before this Court since Mr. Rahman did not timely appeal the agency's final order.

## V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Department asks this Court to deny Mr. Rahman's Petition for Review.